1 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No.: 1641  
2 [mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com](mailto:mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com)  
LAW OFFICES OF  
3 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.  
376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 140  
4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119  
(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX  
5 Attorney for plaintiff/appellant  
6  
7  
8  
9

Electronically Filed  
Jan 23 2018 08:25 a.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF NEVADA

10 SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 9050 W  
11 WARM SPRINGS 2079,

No. 74153

12 Appellant,

13 vs.

14 DITECH FINANCIAL LLC; NEVADA  
15 ASSOCIATION SERVICES; and  
JAMES P. MARKEY,

16 Respondent.  
17  
18

19  
20 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

(A) Basis for the Supreme Court’s Appellate Jurisdiction: The findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment granting Ditech’s motion for summary judgment and the former owner’s joinder to the motion is appealable under NRAP3A(b)(1).

(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment was filed on August 29, 2017. Notice of entry of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment was served and filed on August 29, 2017. Plaintiff filed its notice of appeal on September 27, 2017.

(C) The appeal is from findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment, filed on August 29, 2017, which granted Ditech’s motion for summary judgment and the

1 former owner's joinder to Ditech's motion for summary judgment.

2  
3 **ROUTING STATEMENT**

4 This case is an action for declaratory relief and injunctive relief requiring that a  
5 foreclosure deed be delivered to plaintiff. Rule 17(a) does not list the claims asserted  
6 by plaintiff in its complaint as one of the cases retained by the Supreme Court.  
7 Counsel for plaintiff/appellant therefore believes that this appeal should be assigned  
8  
9 to the Court of Appeals.  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8

- 3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0  
1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
0

## 21

23  
24  
25  
26  
27

1 tender invalid; 3) entry of a declaration pursuant to NRS 40.010 that because James  
2 P. Markey (hereinafter “former owner”) failed to provide plaintiff with a notice of  
3 redemption and a certified copy of the deed to the property and because Quicken  
4 Loans, Inc. (hereinafter “Lender”) failed to provide plaintiff with a notice of  
5 redemption and certified copies of the deed of trust and assignment of deed of trust,  
6 they lost any rights of redemption; 4) entry of a declaration that plaintiff is the  
7 rightful owner of the property and that the defendants have no right, title, interest or  
8 claim to the Property; and 5) entry of a declaration pursuant to NRS 40.010 that title  
9 to the Property is vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendants  
10 be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property.  
11

12 (JA1a, pgs. 1-6)

13 On June 6, 2016, the former owner filed an answer to amended complaint.  
14

15 (JA1a, pgs. 14-27)

16 On October 7, 2016, Intervenor Ditech Financial LLC (hereinafter “Ditech”)  
17 filed an answer to plaintiff’s amended complaint. (JA1a, pgs. 56-64)  
18

19 On October 26, 2016, NAS filed an answer to complaint. (JA1b, pgs. 65-69)  
20

21 On March 7, 2017, Ditech filed a motion for summary judgment. (JA1b, pgs.  
22 70-120)  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28



1 On March 10, 2017, Ditech filed an errata to its motion for summary  
2 judgment. (JA1b, pgs. 121-131)  
3

4 On March 15, 2017, the former owner filed a joinder to Ditech's motion for  
5 summary judgment. (JA1b, pgs. 132-134)  
6

7 On March 22, 2017, plaintiff filed an opposition to Ditech's motion and the  
8 former owner's joinder, and plaintiff filed a countermotion for summary judgment.  
9 (JA1b, pgs. 135-175)  
10

11 On April 7, 2017, Ditech filed a reply in support of its motion for summary  
12 judgment. (JA1c, pgs. 176-183)  
13

14 On April 10, 2017, the former owner filed a joinder to Ditech's reply in  
15 support of its motion for summary judgment. (JA1c, pgs. 184-186)  
16

17 On June 15, 2017, the former owner filed a supplement to his joinder to  
18 Ditech's reply in support of its motion for summary judgment. (JA1c, pgs. 187-202)  
19

20 On June 15, 2017, Ditech filed a supplemental brief in support of its motion  
21 for summary judgment. (JA2, pgs. 203-429)  
22

23 On August 29, 2017, the court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law,  
24 and judgment granting Ditech's motion for summary judgment and the former  
25 owner's joinder in Ditech's motion, and denying plaintiff's motion for summary  
26  
27  
28

1 judgment. (JA3, pgs. 430-445)

2 On August 29, 2017, Ditech served and filed notice of entry of the findings of  
3 fact, conclusions of law, and judgment. (JA3, pgs. 446-464)

4 On September 27, 2017, plaintiff filed its notice of appeal. (JA3, pgs. 465-  
5 466)

### 6 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

7 Plaintiff obtained title to the Property by entering and paying the high bid of  
8 \$48,600.00 at a public auction held on November 20, 2015. See copy of certificate  
9 of foreclosure sale subject to redemption recorded on November 23, 2015 at JA1b,  
10 pgs. 144-146.

11 The public auction arose from a delinquency in assessments due from the  
12 former owner to The Falls Condominiums aka The Falls @ Rhodes Ranch  
13 (hereinafter "HOA") pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

14 Ditech is the beneficiary by assignment of a deed of trust recorded as an  
15 encumbrance against the Property on April 12, 2013. See copy of deed of trust at  
16 JA1b, pgs. 148-170, and assignment of deed of trust at JA1b, pgs. 172-175.  
17 Paragraph (C) on page 2 of the deed of trust (JA1b, pg. 149) identified Quicken  
18 Loans, Inc. as the "Lender," and Paragraph (E) on page 2 of the deed of trust  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 identified MERS, “acting solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender’s successors  
2 and assigns” as the beneficiary of the deed of trust.  
3

4 On January 12, 2015, NAS recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien for  
5 \$1,616.35 against the Property. (JA1b, pg. 110)  
6

7 On April 21, 2015, NAS recorded a notice of default and election to sell under  
8 homeowners association lien for \$2,374.63 against the Property. (JA1b, pgs. 112-  
9 113)  
10

11 On September 9, 2015, NAS recorded a notice of foreclosure sale for  
12 \$3,259.91 against the Property. (JA1b, pgs. 115-116)  
13  
14

15 On December 11, 2015, the former owner sent an email to NAS stating that  
16 he wanted to redeem the Property. (JA1c, pgs. 189-190, ¶8) A copy of the email  
17 begins at the bottom of JA1c, pg. 197 and ends on JA1c, pg. 198.  
18

19 On January 12, 2016, NAS sent an email to Eddie Haddad, to plaintiff’s  
20 counsel and to other interested persons stating that “NAS has received funds from  
21 the homeowner to redeem” and that NAS would have a check for \$49,984.15 “to be  
22 picked up as the payment for the redemption.” (JA1c, pg. 201) The record on appeal  
23 does not contain a copy of this check.  
24  
25  
26

27 On January 12, 2016, Eddie Haddad sent an email to NAS stating: “The  
28

1 redemption must come from either the prior owner or the bank or any other party  
2 who has an interest in the property.” (JA1c, pg. 200)  
3

4 On January 14, 2016, the former owner signed a letter addressed to NAS  
5 instructing NAS to distribute the sales proceeds of \$49,984.15 held by NAS to  
6 plaintiff in order to redeem the Property. (JA1c, pg. 199)  
7  
8

9 On January 15, 2016, NAS sent an email to Eddie Haddad and to plaintiff’s  
10 counsel stating: “Our runner delivered to Mr. Bohn’s office today **a cashier’s check**  
11 **of the homeowner’s funds of James Markey**, the homeowner of the property  
12 referred to above.” (JA1c, pg. 200) (emphasis added)  
13  
14

15 The record on appeal does not contain a copy of this check. The record on  
16 appeal also does not contain admissible evidence proving that the check was the  
17 “homeowner’s funds of James Markey.”  
18

19 On January 19, 2016 at 4:09 p.m., counsel for Ditech sent an email to NAS  
20 (JA2, pg. 356) stating in part:  
21  
22

23 However, to whatever extent my client may have an interest in the sales  
24 proceeds or any express authorization from my client is necessary,  
25 Ditech authorizes NAS to tender any sales proceeds in which it may  
26 have an interest to the buyer at the HOA sale through the end of the  
27 redemption period, **provided that the buyer agrees to accept the**  
28 **payment as a redemption of the property for the benefit of Mr.**  
**Markey.** Should the redemption period elapse, Ditech asks NAS to  
retain any sales proceeds until further notice. (emphasis added)

This email was sent only to NAS and was not provided to Mr. Haddad or to

1 plaintiff's counsel.

2 On January 20, 2016 at 11:56 a.m., counsel for plaintiff sent an email to NAS  
3  
4 stating that the redemption period had expired and that "the entirety of the funds"  
5 paid to redeem the Property "MUST come from either the unit owner or the trust  
6 holder." (JA2, pg. 358)

8 On January 20, 2016 at 1:24 p.m., NAS sent an email to plaintiff's counsel and  
9  
10 to Eddie Haddad stating that "[y]esterday evening I received the cashier's check back  
11 from your office that was intended as the payment by the homeowner to complete the  
12 redemption of the foreclosure sale of the property referred to above." (JA1c, pg.  
13 202) This letter also stated that "NAS is taking the legal position that the redemption  
14 by the homeowner was completed in accordance to SB306 **as of January 15, 2016**  
15 when the cashier's check for \$50,052.16 was delivered to your office." (JA1c, pg.  
16 202) (emphasis added)

17  
18 The record on appeal does not contain a copy of the check for \$50,052.16.

### 22 SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

23  
24 Both the former owner and the Lender failed to comply with the requirements  
25 in NRS 116.31166(3) that govern redemption by the unit's owner or any holder of  
26 a recorded security interest that is subordinate to the lien foreclosed.  
27  
28

1 Both the former owner and the Lender failed to comply with the requirements  
2 in NRS 116.31166(4) requiring that specific documents be provided by the person  
3 redeeming the unit.  
4

5 NAS must be ordered to execute and deliver to plaintiff a deed to the Property.  
6

### 7 STANDARD OF REVIEW

8 In Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005), this  
9 Court stated that it “reviews a district court’s grant of summary judgment de novo,  
10 without deference to the findings of the lower court.”  
11

### 12 ARGUMENT

- 13  
14  
15 **1. The former owner and the Lender did not comply with NRS**  
16 **116.31166(3) that governs redemption by the unit’s owner or**  
17 **any holder of a recorded security interest that is subordinate**  
18 **to the lien foreclosed.**

19 The certificate of foreclosure sale recorded on November 23, 2015 proves that  
20 plaintiff obtained title to the Property by entering and paying the high bid of  
21 \$48,600.00 at a public auction held on November 20, 2015. (JA1b, pgs. 144-146).  
22

23 At page 5 of its motion (JA1b, pg. 74), Ditech stated that “[n]othing in the  
24 statute restricts the unit’s owner from using excess proceeds from the HOA sale to  
25 redeem the property.” At the top of page 6 of its motion (JA1b, pg. 75), Ditech  
26 stated that “the statute does not prevent Mr. Markey from redeeming the property  
27  
28

1 with funds obtained via the surplus funds process.”

2 On the other hand, Ditech and the former owner did not prove that the former  
3 owner obtained the monies tendered by NAS in accordance with the “surplus funds  
4 process” prescribed by NRS Chapter 116.  
5

6 NRS 116.31164(7) provides:  
7

8 7. After the sale, the person conducting the sale **shall**:  
9

10 (a) Comply with the provisions of subsection 2 of NRS 116.31166;  
11 and

12 (b) **Apply the proceeds of the sale for the following purposes in  
the following order:**

13 (1) The reasonable expenses of sale;

14 (2) The reasonable expenses of securing possession before sale,  
holding, maintaining, and preparing the unit for sale, including payment  
15 of taxes and other governmental charges, premiums on hazard and  
liability insurance, and, to the extent provided for by the declaration,  
reasonable attorney’s fees and other legal expenses incurred by the  
association;

16 (3) **Satisfaction of the association’s lien;**

17 (4) **Satisfaction in the order of priority of any subordinate claim  
of record; and**

18 (5) Remittance of any excess to the unit’s owner. (emphasis added)

19 At page 6 of its motion (JA1b, pg. 75), Ditech quoted from Leyva v. National  
20 Default Servicing Corp., 127 Nev. 470, 255 P.3d 1275 (2011), and stated that  
21 “substantial compliance” with the statute is sufficient, but earlier in the opinion, this  
22 Court stated that “due to the statute’s [NRS 107.086] and the FMRs’ mandatory  
23 language regarding document production, a party is considered to have fully  
24 complied with the statutes and rules only upon production of all documents.” 255  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 P.3d at 1276-1277.

2 Furthermore, in the paragraph immediately after the language quoted by  
3  
4 Ditech, this Court stated:

5 Here, both the statutory language and that of the FMRs provide that the  
6 beneficiary "shall" bring the enumerated documents, and we have  
7 previously recognized that "'shall' is mandatory unless the statute  
8 demands a different construction to carry out the clear intent of the  
9 legislature." S.N.E.A. v. Daines, 108 Nev. 15, 19, 824 P.2d 276, 278  
10 (1992); see also Pasillas, 127 Nev. at \_\_\_, 255 P.3d at 1285. The  
11 legislative intent behind requiring a party to produce the assignments  
12 of the deed of trust and mortgage note is to ensure that whoever is  
13 foreclosing "actually owns the note" and has authority to modify the  
14 loan. See Hearing on A.B. 149 Before the Joint Comm. on Commerce  
15 and Labor, 75th Leg. (Nev., February 11, 2009) (testimony of  
16 Assemblywoman Barbara Buckley). Thus, we determine that NRS  
17 107.086 and the FMRs necessitate strict compliance.

18 255 P.3d at 1279.

19 In State v. American Bankers Insurance Co., 108 Nev. 880, 882, 802 P.2d  
20 1276, 1278 (1990), this Court stated:

21 In construing statutes, "shall" is presumptively mandatory and "may"  
22 is construed as permissive unless legislative intent demands another  
23 construction. Givens v. State, 99 Nev. 50, 54, 657 P.2d 97, 233 (1983);  
24 Thomas v. State, 88 Nev. 382, 384, 498 P.2d 1314, 1315 (1972). The  
25 State contends that the NRS 178.508 notice provision must be  
26 construed as directory rather than mandatory in order to avoid an  
27 unconstitutional legislative interference with judicial prerogatives.

28 In rejecting the State's argument that the notice provision in NRS 178.508  
"must be construed as directory rather than mandatory," this Court stated:

In adopting a specific notice requirement to sureties and their agents,  
the legislature did not create a basis for determining that substantial  
compliance is sufficient. Literal compliance is necessary in order to  
give force and effect to the 1987 amendment to NRS 178.508.



1 108 Nev. at 883, 802 P.2d at 1278.

2 In Pasillas v. HSBC Bank USA, 127 Nev. 462, 255 P.3d 1281, 1285 (2011),  
3  
4 this Court stated that use of the word “shall” is “mandatory unless the statute  
5 demands a different construction to carry out the clear intent of the legislature.”  
6  
7 (citing S.N.E.A. v. Daines, 108 Nev. 15, 19, 824 P.2d 276, 278 (1992)) In Pasillas,  
8  
9 this Court also stated: “Additionally, Black’s Law Dictionary defines “shall” as  
10 meaning “imperative or mandatory . . . inconsistent with a concept of discretion.  
11 1375 (6th ed. 1990).” Id.

12  
13 The mandatory distribution provision in NRS 116.31164(7) did not authorize  
14  
15 NAS or the former owner to agree between themselves to leapfrog the payments  
16 required by subsections (b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(3) and (b)(4) of NRS 116.31164 and use  
17  
18 sales proceeds belonging to the Lender for the benefit of the former owner. The  
19 former owner is identified as the last person to receive any funds from the sales  
20  
21 proceeds.

22  
23 As discussed above, the record on appeal does not contain any evidence  
24  
25 proving that any sales proceeds were distributed according to NRS 116.31164(7)  
26  
27 before NAS allegedly tendered the check for \$50,052.16 on January 15, 2016.

28 The record on appeal also does not contain any evidence proving that the

1 former owner provided to NAS the funds used by NAS to make the payment.

2 As stated above, NAS waited until after the check for \$50,052.16 was returned  
3  
4 to NAS before obtaining permission from Ditech to use the Lender's portion of the  
5  
6 excess proceeds to make the redemption payment. As stated above, counsel for  
7  
8 Ditech only granted this authorization "provided that the buyer agrees to accept the  
9  
10 payment as a redemption of the property for the benefit of Mr. Markey." (JA2, pg.  
11 356)

12 The email sent by plaintiff's counsel to NAS on January 20, 2016 at 11:56  
13  
14 a.m. proves that NAS did not satisfy this condition for using the monies belonging  
15  
16 to the Lender. (JA2, pg. 358)

17 Furthermore, the assignment of deed of trust recorded on April 28, 2016  
18  
19 (JA1b, pgs. 172-175) proves that the deed of trust was not assigned to Ditech until  
20  
21 three months after the redemption period expired. The record on appeal does not  
22  
23 contain any admissible evidence proving that Ditech had authority to represent the  
24  
25 Lender in January of 2016.

26 Ditech filed a declaration by John Curcio stating that "[t]he final page of  
27  
28 Exhibit 'A' is a printout of entries in the SIR Servicing Transfer Request Detail  
showing that the rights to service the Loan were transferred from Quicken Loans Inc.

1 to Ditech Financial, LLC ('Ditech') on or about March 31, 2013.” (JA2, pg. 254,  
2 ¶10) On the other hand, the record on appeal does not contain a copy of any  
3 servicing agreement between Ditech and Fannie Mae authorizing Ditech to service  
4 the loan on behalf of Fannie Mae. Mr. Curcio also did not state that he had ever seen  
5 such an agreement. The record on appeal also does not contain a copy of any  
6 servicing agreement between Ditech and the Lender authorizing Ditech to service  
7 the loan on behalf of Quicken Loans, Inc.  
8  
9

10  
11  
12 Mr. Curcio also did not provide a proper foundation to admit the screenshots  
13 attached to his declaration as business records. In U-Haul Int’l, Inc. v. Lumbermens  
14 Mut. Cas. Co., 576 F.3d 1040 (9th Cir. 2009), the court of appeals stated that  
15 computer evidence is admissible as a business record if the witness is “qualified to  
16 testify about the business practices and procedures for inputting the underlying  
17 data.” In the present case, Mr. Curcio’s declaration does not prove that he was so  
18 qualified. For example Mr. Curcio does not describe what procedures, if any, existed  
19 to make sure that a written servicing agreement existed before Ditech was identified  
20 as a servicer for the Markey loan in SIR.  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25

26 As a result, Ditech did not prove that it had the authority to consent to allow  
27 monies that were required to be distributed to Quicken Loans, Inc. to be used by the  
28

1 former owner to redeem the Property from the foreclosure sale.

2 Furthermore, by claiming that the excess proceeds could be used to redeem the  
3  
4 Property, both Ditech and the former owner were estopped to attack the validity of  
5  
6 the sale. In Moore v. Rochester Weaver Mining Co., 42 Nev. 164, 174 P. 1017, 1018  
7 (1918), this Court stated:

8  
9 The rule is, that where one, without title or authority from the real  
10 owner, assumes to sell and convey the land in fee, and the true owner,  
11 knowing the facts, consents to and does accept the proceeds of the sale  
12 in full satisfaction of his interest, this ought to operate as a confirmation  
13 of the unauthorized sale, and preclude the real owner from asserting his  
14 legal title.

15 Because NAS did not have any discretion to bypass the mandatory hierarchy  
16 in NRS 116.31164(7), and because defendants did not prove that the former owner  
17 had the right to use monies belonging to Quicken Loans, Inc. to redeem the Property,  
18 the Property was not redeemed before the 60 day redemption period expired on  
19 January 19, 2016.

20  
21 **2. Both the former owner and the Lender failed to comply with the**  
22 **requirements of NRS 116.31166(4).**

23 NRS 116.31166(4) provides:

24 4. Notice of redemption **must be served** by the person  
25 redeeming the unit on the person who conducted the sale and on the  
26 person from whom the unit is redeemed, **together with:**

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