IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 9050 W WARM SPRINGS 2079,

Appellant,

VS.

Apr 23 2018 09:35 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Electronically Filed

NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES; JAMES P. MARKEY; AND DITECH FINANCIAL LLC,

Respondents.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada The Honorable Timothy Williams (Dept. 16) District Court Case No. A-16-730623-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Brigette E. Foley, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12965 WOLFE & WYMAN LLP 6757 Spencer Street Las Vegas, NV 89119 Phone: (702) 476-0100

Facsimile: (702) 0101 befoley@wolfewyman.com

Attorneys for Respondent DITECH FINANCIAL LLC

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

However, the record makes it clear that the Court cannot accept Saticoy Bay's arguments, because to do so would run afoul of well-established canons of statutory interpretation, including the requirement to carry out the Legislature's intent in enacting the 2015 amendments to NRS Chapter 116. In fact, a review of the entire NRS Chapter 116 statutory scheme shows that the Legislature intended for substantial compliance to be substituted for provisions generally requiring strict compliance in circumstances where equity so requires. Accordingly, traditional notions of imposing strict compliance with time and manner provisions must not be applied in this case, where doing so would cause severe prejudice or an absurd result. Indeed, the Court must evaluate the record and balance the equities in manner that satisfies the Legislature's clear intent of restoring balance to the HOA foreclosure process. Thus, the only appropriate adjudication of this case is to hold that Markey redeemed the Property, which extinguished the effects of the HOA Sale and restored Markey's interest and the Deed of Trust to their priority positions prior to the Sale, and that Saticoy Bay is entitled to the redemption funds in the

amount of \$50,052.16 that were tendered to Saticoy Bay on January 15, 2016, upon its release of any further claim and interest in the Property.

B. Markey Timely Tendered the Undisputed Redemption Amount to Saticoy Bay.

"Tender occurs when a party makes an amount available without conditions." US Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 3:15-cv-00241-RCJ-WGC, 2016 WL 4473427, at *6 (D. Nev. Aug. 24, 2016) (quoting *Tender*, Black's Law Dictionary 1696 (10th ed. 2014)). "It was settled law before Nevada even became a state that timely and complete tender immediately discharges a lien against real property, even if the tender is rejected, although the lienor remains entitled to repayment of the debt." US Bank, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, at *6-7 (internal citations omitted). This long-standing doctrine is applicable in the HOA foreclosure context. See Stone Hollow Ave. Trust v. Bank of Am., Nat'l Ass'n, 391 P.3d 760 (2016) (Pickering, J., dissenting) (citing 1 Grant S. Nelson, Dale A. Whitman, Ann M. Burkhart & R. Wilson Freyermuth, Real Estate Finance Law § 7:21 (6th ed. 2014)) ("Under the prevailing view, ... a tender of the lien amount invalidates a foreclosure sale to the extent that the sale purports to extinguish the tenderer's interest in the property.") Here, tender of the full redemption amount was made to Saticoy Bay within the statutory timeframe, which immediately extinguished Saticov Bay's interest in the Property as a matter of law.

1. Markey's Ratification of NAS's Tender Renders it Valid and Enforceable.

Tender "need not be made by [a debtor] personally." *Forderer v. Schmidt*, 154 F. 475, 477 (9th Cir. 1907). "If made by a third person at his request it is sufficient, and, if made by a stranger without his knowledge or request, it seems that a subsequent assent of the debtor would operate as a ratification and make the tender good." *Id.* The Restatement further supports a finding that NAS may properly tender the redemption amount on behalf of Markey:

A performance in full of the obligation secured by a mortgage, or a performance that is accepted by the mortgagee in lieu of payment in full, by one who holds an interest in the real estate subordinate to the mortgage but is not primarily responsible for performance, does not extinguish the mortgage, but redeems the interest of the person performing from the mortgage and entitles the person performing to subrogation to the mortgage under the principles of § 7.6. Such performance may not be made until the obligation secured by the mortgage is due, but may be made at or after the time the obligation is due but prior to foreclosure.

The Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 6.4(e) (1997).⁴ The same principle applies to the instant action. Here, it is undisputed that NAS delivered a cashier's check to Saticoy Bay's counsel on January 15, 2016 (still within the 60-day redemption period), and there is no dispute that the checks satisfied the full

15

⁴ The Nevada Supreme Court has typically followed the Restatement in related contexts in recent years. *See Montierth v. Deutsche Bank (In re Montierth)*, 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 55, 354 P.3d 648, 651 (2015).

redemption amount under the statute. JA vol.1, 136. The cashier's check was an unconditional order to pay the money required to be tendered to Saticoy Bay to allow Markey to redeem the property under NRS 116.31166(3). *See also* NRS 104.3104. Accordingly, Saticoy Bay's interest in the property was extinguished on January 15, 2016, when NAS delivered the cashier's check for the amount of \$50,052.16 to Bohn's office.

2. Markey's Use of Excess Proceeds to Satisfy the Redemption Amount was Proper.

Saticoy Bay's claim that excess proceeds cannot be used to provide the redemption amount is misguided. NRS 116.31164(7)(b) directs the person conducting the sale to distribute the excess proceeds from the sale, i.e. the remaining proceeds after all expenses of the sale, expenses of the HOA of securing possession before the sale, and the HOA's lien have been satisfied, to subordinate claims of record and then to the unit's prior owner. Here, Ditech would have been entitled to all of the remaining excess proceeds because it was the contractually-authorized servicer of the Fannie Mae Mortgage Loan that was secured by the Deed of Trust encumbering the Property at the time of the HOA Sale. JA vol. 2, 253-64. Ditech authorized NAS to tender the excess proceeds to fund the redemption amount for the benefit of Markey. JA vol. 2, 356. Therefore, Markey's use of excess proceeds toward the redemption amount was proper.

Furthermore, Saticoy Bay's argument that use of the excess proceeds toward the redemption funds estopped Ditech and Markey from attacking the validity of the HOA Sale runs afoul of the purpose of the redemption provisions, which is to balance the interests of all stakeholders. Saticoy Bay's argument only creates imbalance and unfairness because it places an undue burden on homeowners, many of whom are already financially stretched (which is likely what initially led to the HOA initiating foreclosure proceedings) to come up with the full amount of the redemption funds without the benefit of being able to use excess proceeds, despite the fact that the redemption funds are intended to *reimburse* the purchaser. This case provides a clear example of how Saticoy Bay's argument would lead to absurd results because Markey would have been required to come up with over \$50,000.00 to satisfy the redemption amount, while the excess proceeds, which total \$44,035.77, remained parked in a trust account and unavailable for use in reversing the HOA Foreclosure Sale. JA vol. 2, 343. One need not strain to list the many ways that this scenario would substantially disrupt the balance of interests the Legislature intended to strike by enacting the redemption statute (borrowers would be forced to walk away from a home that would be redeemable with the excess proceeds; borrowers, lenders and servicers would also be disadvantaged by having to needlessly give up liquidity to tender large redemption

amounts). Because Saticoy Bay's estoppel argument runs afoul of the Legislature's intent and stands to create absurd and inequitable results, it must fail.

C. Markey Complied With The Notice Requirement.

Saticoy Bay received actual notice that Markey and Ditech were exercising their respective rights to redeem the Property within the 60-day redemption period satisfies NRS 116.31166(4)'s notice requirement. "Where the purpose of the notice requirements is fulfilled ... substantial compliance [satisfies] the statute." *Leyva*, 255 P.3d at 1278-79. NRS 116.31166(4) does not set forth any specific provisions for the form or content of the notice of redemption. Therefore, Saticoy Bay was put on notice of Markey's intent to redeem the Property on December 15, 2015 when NAS advised Saticoy Bay and Ditech that it had received a certified letter from the homeowner notifying them of his intent to redeem the property. JA vol. 2, 340. It is immaterial that Saticoy Bay actually received the notice of Markey's redemption from NAS rather than Markey himself.

Saticoy Bay never expressed any issue with the form and manner of Markey's notice of redemption through NAS at any time during the 60-day redemption period, despite having ample opportunity to do so. Saticoy Bay also never expressed any issue with Ditech's notice of redemption, which was served in exactly the same manner. JA vol. 2, 339-354. Furthermore, during the redemption period, Saticoy Bay engaged in continuous discussions with Ditech and NAS about

the manner in which the redemption needed to be carried out. *Id.* In fact, Saticoy Bay suggested several times that the Parties finalize the redemption of the Property by having Ditech tender the redemption funds to Saticoy Bay, and then work out reimbursement/subrogation of the tendered funds with Markey at a later date. JA vol. 2, 339, 345, 346. Taken together, these fact unequivocally confirm that Saticoy Bay had no issue with or objection to the form of the notices of redemption during the redemption period. Indeed, Saticoy Bay did not express *any* objections or reservations to the notices of redemption until the day *after* the redemption lapsed. JA vol. 2, 358. These facts clearly reflect that Saticoy Bay was on actual notice of Markey and Ditech's intents to redeem, and it was not prejudiced by the form of such notice. Therefore, the redemption statute's notice requirement was satisfied.

D. Markey's Redemption is Not Invalidated by His Failure to Provide a Certified Copy of His Deed to Saticoy Bay.

Markey's compliance with the redemption statute also is not defeated by an alleged failure to provide a certified copy of his deed to the Property. In *Einhorn v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP*, the Nevada Supreme Court determined that "strict compliance with the statute's document mandate [was] required" because the clear legislative intent of the document mandate was to ensure that the mediator and the homeowner were satisfied "that whoever is foreclosing actually owns the note and has authority to modify the loan," and, further, that the party seeking the

FMP certificate is the proper entity, under the nonjudicial foreclosure statutes, to proceed against the property." 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 61, 290 P.3d 249, 254 (2012) (internal citations omitted); *see also Leyva*, 255 P.3d at 1279 ("The legislative intent behind requiring a party to produce the assignments of the deed of trust and mortgage note is to ensure that whoever is foreclosing "actually owns the note" and has authority to modify the loan.") (internal citation omitted).

Much like NRS 107.086's document mandate, the clear legislative intent behind NRS 116.31166(4)(b)'s requirement that the redeeming unit owner produce a certified copy of his deed to the unit is to ensure that the person seeking to redeem the property has the standing and authority to exercise redemption rights. However, unlike NRS 107 and the FMR's, NRS Chapter 116 does not include a mandatory recommendation for sanctions where a redeemer fails to strictly comply with the provisions of the redemption statute. Rather, Chapter 116 provides that "[t]he remedies provided by this chapter must be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed." NRS 116.1114 (Emphasis added). This requirement supports a determination that the failure of a unit owner to produce a certified copy of his deed to the unit shall not necessarily defeat his redemption. Furthermore, the legislative intent behind the 2015 amendments to Chapter 116 – striking a balance "between the interests of homeowners, HOAs, banks, mortgage lenders,

government-sponsored entities, investors and the title industry" – also supports this proposition. "Nevada homeowners benefit by the changes made in this bill as well. Taking away someone's property that is worth hundreds of thousands of dollars is not a matter that should be taken lightly and there are quite a few consumer protections in this bill." JA vol. 2, 359.

Here, there is no question or issue that Markey was the unit's owner and therefore had authority to redeem the unit under NRS 116.31166. At the time of the November 20, 2015, HOA foreclosure auction, Markey was the only person with a recorded interest in the Property, other than recorded Deed of Trusts and Assignments, since he first purchased the Property as new construction from Rhodes Ranch General Partnership on June 11, 2004. JA vol. 2, 328-29. During the redemption period, Saticov Bay never challenged Markey or Ditech's authority to redeem the Property, nor did it demand that Markey and Ditech produce the title documents to the Property set forth in the redemption statute. JA vol. 2, 331-359. Rather, Saticoy Bay's only stated objection during the redemption period was its opinion that it was not required to accept the redemption funds from NAS, but that the funds had to come from the unit owner or the deed of trust beneficiary. JA vol. 2, 334. Again, the first time Saticoy Bay stated any objection to Markey's failure to provide a certified deed was the day after the 60-day redemption period ended. JA vol. 2, 358. Clearly, Saticoy Bay was not prejudiced by Markey's failure to

provide the certified copies of the title documents. As previously discussed herein, Saticoy Bay expressed no intention of enforcing this requirement under the redemption statute during the actual redemption period, but rather continued to negotiate and discuss the terms of the redemption with the Parties to try to finalize the same up until the last day of the redemption period. JA vol. 2, 339-354. Therefore, the Court should determine that Markey substantially complied with the statute and that he redeemed the property from Saticoy Bay.

E. Deviations from Strict Compliance with NRS 116.31166 Should Not Defeat Markey's Redemption.

Even if strict compliance is required, this Court's decision in *Pasillas v*. *HSBC Bank USA* supports a finding that failure to comply with a statute's strict compliance provision does not necessarily defeat the abusing party's rights and claims. Specifically, the *Pasillas* Court determined that the district court was required to consider appropriate sanctions where the Bank failed to adhere to the strict compliance requirements of NRS 107.086. 127 Nev. 462, 469, 255 P.3d 1281, 1286-87 (2011). The *Pasillas* Court did *not* determine that the district court was prohibited from ordering the Foreclosure Mediation Program administrator from entered a Letter of Certification that would allow the bank to proceed with the foreclosure process. *Id*. (Emphasis added). Rather, the Court remanded the case to the district court with instructions to consider "appropriate sanctions." *Id*. The Court then noted that the district court should review certain factors more

specific to the foreclosure mediation context when considering appropriate sanctions, including "whether the violations were intentional, the amount of prejudice to the non-violating party, and the violating party's willingness to mitigate any harm by continuing meaningful negotiation." *Id.* at 470, 255 P.3d at 1287.

Here, Saticoy Bay should not be rewarded for its decision to wait until the redemption period lapsed before objecting to the redemption based upon sufficiency of notice and Markey's failure to serve a certified copy of the deed, especially given the fact that Saticoy Bay negotiated with the Parties to try to finalize the redemption up until the last day of the redemption period. Again, when analyzing the circumstances of the instant action under the backdrop of the legislative intent behind the 2015 amendments, the Court must find in favor of Ditech and Markey. Indeed, the only way to ensure that all parties to the instant action are "put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed" (see NRS 116.1114) is to hold that Markey redeemed the Property.

II. SATICOY BAY'S ARGUMENTS MADE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL MUST NOT BE CONSIDERED.

"[P]arties may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal, which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below." *Schuck v. Signature*Flight Support of Nev., Inc., 126 Nev. 434, 437, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) (internal citation omitted). "This rule is not meant to be harsh, overly formalistic, or to

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